Thursday, 24 November 2016



At a meeting of the LEICESTER CITY COUNCIL held at the Town Hall at FIVE O'CLOCK in the afternoon on Thursday, 24 NOVEMBER 2016 duly convened for the business hereunder mentioned.

========

#### **BUSINESS**

========

- LORD MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
- 2. **DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST**
- 3. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING

The minutes of the meeting of 6 October 2016 are available to view at <a href="http://www.cabinet.leicester.gov.uk:8071/documents/g7619/Printed%20minutes%20Thursday%2006-Oct-2016%2017.00%20Council.pdf?T=1">http://www.cabinet.leicester.gov.uk:8071/documents/g7619/Printed%20minutes%20Thursday%2006-Oct-2016%2017.00%20Council.pdf?T=1</a>

Copies are also available from Democratic Support on 0116 454 6350 / committees@leicester.gov.uk

### 4. STATEMENTS BY THE CITY MAYOR / EXECUTIVE

#### 5. **PETITIONS**

- Presented by Members of the Public
- Presented by Councillors
- Petitions to be debated
  - 5.1 Belgrave Library
  - 5.2 Adventure Playgrounds

#### 6. **QUESTIONS**

- From Members of the Public
- From Councillors

# 7. MATTERS RESERVED TO FULL COUNCIL

- 7.1 Procurement of the Council's External Audit Contract by Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA)
- 7.2 Council Tax Reduction Scheme
- 7.3 Leicester Youth Justice Plan 2016-2017

# 8. REPORTS OF THE EXECUTIVE

8.1 Scrutiny Annual Report 2015/16

#### 9. REPORTS OF REGULATORY AND STANDARDS COMMITTEES

9.1 Annual Report of the Audit and Risk Committee to Council Covering the Municipal Year 2015-16

#### 10 **EXECUTIVE AND COMMITTEES**

To note any changes to the Executive. To vary the composition and fill any vacancies of any Committee of Council.

#### 11. NOTICES OF MOTION

#### 12. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS

# Fire & Emergency Evacuation Procedure

- The Council Chamber Fire Exits are the two entrances either side of the top bench or under the balcony in the far left corner of the room.
- In the event of an emergency alarm sounding make your way to Town Hall Square and assemble on the far side of the fountain.
- Anyone who is unable to evacuate using stairs should speak to any of the Town Hall staff at the beginning of the meeting who will offer advice on evacuation arrangements.
- From the public gallery, exit via the way you came in, or via the Chamber as directed by Town Hall staff.

## Filming and Recording the Meeting

The Council is committed to transparency and supports efforts to record and share reports of proceedings of public meetings through a variety of means, including social media. In accordance with government regulations and the Council's policy, persons and press attending any meeting of the Council open to the public (except Licensing Sub Committees and where the public have been formally excluded) are allowed to record and/or report all or part of that meeting. Details of the Council's policy are available at <a href="www.leicester.gov.uk">www.leicester.gov.uk</a> or from Democratic Support.

If you intend to film or make an audio recording of a meeting you are asked to notify the relevant Democratic Support Officer in advance of the meeting to ensure that participants can be notified in advance and consideration given to practicalities such as allocating appropriate space in the public gallery etc.

The aim of the Regulations and of the Council's policy is to encourage public interest and engagement so in recording or reporting on proceedings members of the public are asked:

- ✓ to respect the right of others to view and hear debates without interruption:
- ✓ to ensure that the sound on any device is fully muted and intrusive lighting avoided;
- ✓ where filming, to only focus on those people actively participating in the meeting:
- ✓ where filming, to (via the Chair of the meeting) ensure that those present are aware that they may be filmed and respect any requests to not be filmed.

# PRESENT:

# STEPHEN CORRALL, LORD MAYOR CHAIRMAN

# SIR PETER SOULSBY - CITY MAYOR

Abbey Ward North Evington Ward

HARSHAD DAHYABHAI BHAVSAR LUIS FONSECA ANNETTE BYRNE JEAN KHOTE

VIJAY SINGH RIYAIT ABDUL RAZAK OSMAN

<u>Aylestone Ward</u> <u>Rushey Mead Ward</u>

ADAM CLARKE PIARA SINGH CLAIR

NIGEL CARL PORTER RITA PATEL ROSS WILLMOTT

Beaumont Leys Ward Saffron Ward

HEMANT RAE BHATIA ELLY CUTKELVIN SUE WADDINGTON WILLIAM SHELTON

PAUL THOMAS WESTLEY

Belgrave Ward
MANSUKLAL CHOHAN
MANJULA SOOD
JOHN THOMAS

Braunstone Park and Rowley Fields Stoneygate Ward

ELAINE HALFORD LUCY CHAPLIN KULWINDER SINGH JOHAL KIRK MASTER

AMINUR THALUKDAR

Castle Ward

PATRICK JOSEPH KITTERICK DEBORAH ANNE SANGSTER LYNN SENIOR

Evington Ward Troon Ward

DEEPAK BAJAJ DIANE CANK BALJIT SINGH

B/ LEGIT CHACL

<u>Eyres Monsell Ward</u> <u>Westcotes Ward</u>

VIRGINIA CLEAVER ANDY CONNELLY RORY PALMER SARAH RUSSELL

Fosse Ward

DAWN ALFONSO TED CASSIDY

**Humberstone and Hamilton Ward** 

RASHMI JOSHI GURINDER SINGH SANDHU

Knighton Ward

ROSS GRANT INDERJIT SINGH GUGNANI DR LYNN MOORE Western Ward

DR SUSAN BARTON GEORGE COLE

Wycliffe Ward

HANIF AQBANY MOHAMMED DAWOOD

### LORD MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS

Before the meeting formally commenced the Lord Mayor asked his Chaplain to say an appropriate prayer.

## FORMER COUNCILLOR ALLAN GRATRIX

With sorrow the Lord Mayor announced the loss of former Councillor Allan Arthur Gratrix who represented the Humberstone Ward during the 1970's and passed away earlier in the month. Also referred to as 'Mr Thurnby Lodge', Allan Gratrix had been known to many as a dedicated volunteer at Thurnby Lodge Community Centre and organiser of numerous community events who devoted his life to decades of work and support for the Thurncourt Ward.

# **TYLER THOMPSON MEMORIAL**

The Lord Mayor informed Council of an event held on the same evening as Council as part of the memorial for Tyler Thompson a 16 year old boy who died on 24 November 2015 as a result of knife crime. The event attended by a number of Councillors, was to begin at the City of Leicester College where Tyler was a student and include a candle-lit procession and the laying of a granite memorial stone as a tribute.

Members observed a one minute silence to remember Allan Gratrix and Tyler Thompson.

#### FIRE & EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE

The Lord Mayor asked all present to note the evacuation procedures detailed on the Agenda for the meeting and asked anyone with any queries to speak to one of the Town Hall staff who would be able to assist.

# **DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST**

The Lord Mayor invited Members to declare any interests they might have in the business on the agenda.

No declarations were made.

# **MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING**

Moved by the Lord Mayor, seconded by the Deputy Lord Mayor and carried:

21. That the minutes of the meeting of Council held on 6th October 2016, a copy having been circulated to each Member of the Council, be taken as read and that they be approved as a correct record.

### STATEMENTS BY THE CITY MAYOR/EXECUTIVE

None.

#### **PETITIONS**

### PETITIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC

The Lord Mayor stated that no petitions from members of the public had been

received for presentation at the meeting.

#### PETITIONS FROM COUNCILLORS

# Councillor Singh presented a petition with 71 signatures in the following terms:

"We the undersigned residents of the City of Leicester request the City Council to assist in starting a bus service along Barkbythorpe Road to help alleviate the daily travel needs of young school children, elderly residents and families living in the local area who currently have no access to public transport".

# Councillor Sandhu presented a petition with 108 signatures in the following terms:

"We the undersigned are residents of Hamilton that would like to urge Arriva Bus to consider an additional bus route which can be used for residents to access Belgrave en-route to the City Centre. Arriva Bus already has the 58 and 58A bus routes that run to/from Hamilton. We are requesting that a 58B route be created to the City Centre via Belgrave."

The Lord Mayor stated that under Council Procedure Rule 13 the aforementioned petition would e referred to the Monitoring Officer for consideration and action as appropriate.

#### PETITIONS TO BE DEBATED

The Monitoring Officer noted that under the terms of the Council's Petitions Scheme each petitioner had been invited to speak on their petition for a maximum of five minutes. This would be followed by a debate on the issues raised by the petition for a maximum of 15 minutes.

**5.1** A petition was presented by Mr Praful Mashru which had been verified as having the required number of verified signatures to trigger a debate and had been submitted in the following terms:

"We the undersigned firmly oppose Leicester City Council's plan to:

- 1) Close down the Belgrave Library with the intention of moving it to the Belgrave Neighbourhood Centre. There is no room for books, computers, tables and other resources inside the Belgrave Neighbourhood Centre and this will mean downscaling of the services. Both buildings are regularly and heavily used. Belgrave Library is an invaluable resource for the pupils and families of local schools. Access to high quality literature is particularly essential during this period of economic hardship. Losing Belgrave Library will have a massively damaging impact on the education and future life chances of young people in the area.
- 2) Alter the provision of meals for the lunch club members. The kitchen at the Belgrave Neighbourhood Centre is adequate to provide freshly cooked and culturally appropriate vegetarian meals for the elderly; disabled and diabetic members of the lunch club. Members are paying £4.20 per plate for this per day. This lunch club is vitally important for the vulnerable and lonely elderly people who come and socialise at the centre.

3) We strongly oppose Leicester City Council's plan to close the Belgrave Library and to relocate it to the Belgrave Neighbourhood Centre".

Moved by Councillor Master, seconded by Councillor Clarke and carried that:-

- 22. That the petition be noted.
- **5.2** A petition was presented by Mr Kuljit Singh Walia which had been verified as having the required number of verified signatures to trigger a debate and had been submitted in the following terms:

"We the undersigned are petitioning Leicester City Council to withdraw the proposed cuts to the nine Adventure Playgrounds. This petition is by Leicester Playfair, representing Braunstone AP, Woodgate AP, Goldhill AP, The Whatcabin, St Andrews PA, Highfields AP, New Parks AP, Northfields Playbarn, Mowmacre YPPDA. The proposed budget cuts would be devastating to each one of the 9 Adventure Playgrounds, possibly leading to their closure. Once they have gone they have gone."

In the light of the number of Members who indicated a wish to speak the Lord Mayor agreed to an extension of the debate by 5 minutes.

Moved by Councillor Russell, seconded by the City Mayor and carried that:-

23. That the petition be noted and included as part of the consultation on the Early Years Review.

### **QUESTIONS**

**Lord Mayor:** Can I request that where Members have questions for tonight's meeting they bear in mind the requirements of the Constitution that questions should be asked and answered without discussion and that supplementary questions must be a question for the purpose of clarifying a reply and not a statement. Please note we have got a very full agenda tonight and if Members continue I will curtail any Member that does not comply with these requirements. Thank you. Councillor Cutkelvin please.

**Councillor Cutkelvin:** Thank you my Lord Mayor. "Can I ask the City Mayor who has oversight of the Using Buildings Better Project where we are at with the Council owned units next to the St. Andrews Estate which have been left empty for over 4 years?"

Lord Mayor: Thank you Councillor Cutkelvin, City Mayor please.

City Mayor: My Lord Mayor. Some time ago I, with some of my colleagues including Councillor Connelly, visited the properties that Councillor Cutkelvin refers to which she rightly says have been vacant for some time. It was our conclusion, very firm conclusion, that the buildings in their current form have no future. They have failed as retail units and the direction of travel towards demolition and reuse of the site is to my mind absolutely inevitable. We, I think, had hoped that the move towards demolition would have been completed by now. In fact I understand there was some discussion about whether, as part of the demolition of those properties, we could look at a wider site with surrounding owners. While those considerations have been taking place the actual demolition of these particular properties has been

somewhat put on one side. I think it has now got to the point where it is no longer likely that a wider solution can be achieved, and therefore does seem very sensible that we actually proceed with the demolition as we originally intended. I did ask officers about the timescale because obviously we will talk to Ward Councillors about it, but it is our hope that in the New Year we can have some clear proposals with the progress towards the demolition taking place sometime in the early spring.

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you City Mayor. Councillor Cutkelvin do you have a supplementary please?

**Councillor Cutkelvin:** Yes thank you Lord Mayor. Can I just thank the City Mayor for his comprehensive answer there and whilst I recognise the fact that there was a wider site that has been under discussion, I believe by asking this question here tonight we have sort of tackled some of the apparent inertia of officers in respect of demolishing the units. Can I ask the City Mayor, I understand that the site is too tight for housing, can I ask the City Mayor to seriously consider residents' calls for the site to be used for public car parking when the demolition is complete.

Lord Mayor: Thank you. City Mayor.

City Mayor: Yes my Lord Mayor. I think it is because it is quite a small site that officers had rather hoped to get something bigger and rather more developable as housing was obviously one of the options for that. I am certainly very sympathetic to the prospect of putting car parking on the site. I have said in my initial response Chair that this is something that I would intend there should be full discussion with the Ward Councillors about, and I intend to instruct officers to have those discussions at an early stage and certainly it may well be that car parking is the best solution for this problematic site.

Lord Mayor: Thank you City Mayor. Councillor Barton.

**Councillor Barton:** Thank you Lord Mayor. I am going to ask the City Mayor, sorry Councillor Clair, "How many former Western Park Golf Club members and users have transferred across to play golf at Humberstone Heights?"

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you Councillor Barton. Councillor Clair please.

Councillor Clair: Thank you Chair. Thank you to Councillor Barton for asking this question. I always now believe that this area of golf course was very near and dear to your heart and you were Chair at that time and it is still the same case and your passion. So total 30 members who have transferred from Western Park. But we cannot have a split, the members who come and only pay and play, there may be some members from Western golf course. There may be some members who were not at that time city residents. They may have preferred to go to their convenient golf course in the county. What I can assure you is that from last April to September we have about 11,000 visitors, which are new and that is increased. We have given a commitment to a modest investment, which is to upgrade those footpaths and to do drainage and to have new signage and also the driving range is now run in-house and the carpet is being replaced. Amongst those 11,000 visitors, I am really glad to say that they are a mix and match of new young users from schools and also women members and also very diverse range of non-members. This new modest investment which was to put golf, prepayment of that investment within 3 months, so that is another increase of membership who use this golf course now, and also we have some money now to refurbish those changing rooms ladies and men's toilet and changing room – and also new carpet and decoration. So I hope this golf course is really thriving and there are more members who are coming and playing. Thank you my Lord Mayor.

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you Councillor Clair. Councillor Barton do you have a supplementary question relating to your answer?

**Councillor Barton:** Just to thank Councillor Clair for his very thorough answer. I am pleased that people are making use of the facilities over at Humberstone Heights for golf. I have not really got another question but I am just thanking you for the answer that you have given and also for the refurbishment, which I know I asked for several years ago.

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you Councillor Barton. Councillor Clair did you want to respond. No. OK. Question 3, Councillor Riyait.

**Councillor Riyait:** Thank you my Lord Mayor. "Following representations from Abbey Councillors, Liz Kendall, MP, and a petition by parents of Alderman Richard Hallam Primary School, can the City Mayor say when measures to ensure children's safety around the Avebury Avenue area will be taken?"

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you Councillor Riyait. Councillor Master please.

Councillor Master: Thank you Lord Mayor. Thank you Councillor Riyait for the question. As I am sure all of the Ward Councillors will agree, we have a number of schools across the City and it is something that the volume of schools and the volume of traffic and the volume of young people that are going to these schools has presented some issues around school parking and speeding priorities, and due to that we have created within the Highways Team a scheme around school parking priorities, 20 miles an hour zone priorities and also try to link in through our local environment works programme your top three Ward priorities and whether any schools are captured within those. We are introducing the speeding action plans and school parking plans as well, but with the particular school that Councillor Riyait mentions, Alderman and Richard Hallam, who are 22nd on this list of schools in terms of work or actions as being needed. Now there is no scientific formula to this matrix that we are putting together, but it just gives us an indication of where we are and where we need to go with it, but I am more than happy to discuss with the Ward Councillors for that area if we have missed any information that needs to be brought forward sooner rather than later, so we can look at that as part of what we need to do and prioritise going forward.

**Lord Mayor.** Thank you Councillor Master. Councillor Riyait do you have a supplementary question please?

**Councillor Riyait**: Yes thank you for that Councillor Master and I would like to, you know, further discuss how we potentially look at the priority of that school and how we potentially could raise that. Thank you.

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you Councillor Riyait. I don't suppose you want to respond to that do you? No. Question 4 Councillor Riyait please.

**Councillor Riyait:** Thank you my Lord Mayor. "Despite discussions with Highways over 12 months, public meetings with residents and parents of Belgrave St. Peters School, there is still no firm plan for traffic calming and junction improvements of Wesley Street and Thurcaston Road. Can the City Mayor say when a concrete plan to ensure children and resident safety in this area will be brought forward?"

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you Councillor Riyait. Councillor Master please.

Councillor Master: Thank you Lord Mayor. Again I just reiterate on the point I have just made. This is also being built into those strategies that we are putting together around 20 miles an hour zones and school parking and also looking around hazardous markings on the floor to ensure that I guess we can try and keep as many cars away from the school entrances and gates as possible are ongoing. There are some bits of work that are ongoing at this moment in time – traffic regulation orders have been put in place around Wesley Street and then hopefully to increase double yellow lines around that area of the school as well to help enforcement with people that are parking illegally and inappropriately, especially around school time. But as I mentioned, building into the other schemes that we are operating. Again happy to look at this school in particular if there are issues that you need to address.

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you Councillor Masters. Councillor Riyait supplementary question at all? No, thank you. Moving on to question 5, Councillor Riyait please.

**Councillor Riyait:** "Will Assistant Mayor, Councillor Kirk Master, please urgently consider implementing the recommendations by the Police Crime Prevention Officer who visited the Tudor Centre shortly after the public meeting with the PCC, Lord Willy Bach, which raised serious concerns around ASB around the community centre?"

Lord Mayor: Thank you. Councillor Osman please.

Councillor Osman: Thank you my Lord Mayor. Can I thank councillor Riyait for his question. I know we have been working quite actively in order to bring about some of the changes from the visit where certain recommendations and actions have been taken, especially around lighting has been improved around the Tudor Centre where possible and especially around the winter evening months, and also the Community Safety Team and the Youth Services have been pulling together a programme of action in relation to some constructive activities for young people. Over and above anti-vandal paint that has also been pointed out in relation to some of the climbing points and accompanying signs are also to be restored, and we are also looking at how we communicate much better with our staff in relation to our monitoring the CCTV cameras in relation to the Tudor Centre, and we are also considering to have installation where it is possible of CCTV cameras in and around at the front door and the alarm boxes of the buildings. Other arrangements have been made with the Ward Members for a patch walk and I am more than happy also for myself and for yourselves and the other Ward Members to attend that in order to attend to some of the other issues that we may be able to pick up.

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you Councillor Osman. Councillor Riyait a supplementary question?

Councillor Riyait: No.

Lord Mayor: Thank you. Moving on to question 6 please, Councillor Riyait.

**Councillor Riyait:** Thank you my Lord Mayor. "Can the City Mayor say when the Council and Bloor Homes will come to an agreement for the play area on Oakwood Road to be adopted by Leicester City Council so that the play area can be reopened for the enjoyment of local children and families?"

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you Councillor Riyait, Councillor Clair please.

Councillor Clair: Thank you my Lord Mayor. The Oakwood Road play area was constructed by Bloor Homes as part of their development of the former Marconi site. I know for a fact that since then this area was not adopted because there has been some health and safety risk. So officers are negotiating with Bloor Homes. They have agreed to create a cost to refurbish this play area and are asking the Council to immediately adopt that. They are now negotiating with the City Council officers if legal if our own Council landscape services could carry out the work and because I am alerted that as you are aware Councillor Rivait, that soon from the refurbishment and the installation of this play area that the rubber mat started to come off, and its starting to shrink from the sides. The foot panel they used was not up to the specification and proper layout was correct and also there has been some issue regarding landscaping and tree planation in that area. So having in mind all those issues, the City Council is now willing to take their own initiative to restore that play area and that negotiations are hopefully concluding. So once the landscaping officer and department do that job they are hopeful that work will be completed by March, and this area of play area which would be adopted by April. So I am hopeful that through those negotiations it is on progress and it will happen now given the timescale. I really recognise the way in which local children and residents have already suffered and I am following your trail of email with officers reminding them from last two weeks so I hope it will come to a conclusion as soon as the issues are sorted.

Lord Mayor: Thank you Councillor Clair. Councillor Riyait a supplementary?

**Councillor Riyait:** Yes my Lord Mayor just one question. Thank you for that very positive reply and for following that up Councillor Clair. My questions is, we have asked for a communication plan so that residents can know what is actually happening because at the moment they don't really know why the play area has been closed.

**Lord Mayor:** Councillor Clair.

**Councillor Clair:** Absolutely Chair, I will ask officers to liaise first with the Ward Councillors and agree the communication plan as you have already spoken to officers that you are planning to do some leafleting so that people know that, but that is on hold because they want to have this legal dealings sorted out. I hope that will soon happen and once the process is on for rolling round to refurbishment and reinstall this play area so they will negotiate and work with you to have a proper communication plan so that you can print those leaflets and remind residents.

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you Councillor Clair. Councillor Cleaver please.

**Councillor Cleaver:** Thank you my Lord Mayor. "Can the Deputy City Mayor inform Council what he has done to raise concerns about the under-funding of adult social care?"

Lord Mayor: Thank you Councillor Cleaver. Deputy City Mayor.

**Deputy City Mayor:** Thank you my Lord Mayor and I am grateful for Councillor Cleaver raising this important issue at Council this evening. In doing so, she has succeeded where the Chancellor of the Exchequer miserably failed yesterday. We have a £4b spending gap by 2020 in adult social care. The LGA estimate that this

is now a national emergency which the government cannot ignore. So for the government yesterday to publish a 72 page autumn statement which does not mention the NHS or social care once, is beyond outrageous. I have consistently raised concerns with central government over the past two years about the underfunding of adult social care, the pressure that is putting on local authorities up and down the country, including here in Leicester. Last week I was giving evidence to the Communities and Local Government Select Committee in Parliament, who are currently doing an enquiry on adult social care funding. We can only hope that government ministers perhaps listen to MPs of all parties in the House of Commons more than they appear to be listening to politicians of all parties in local government who have been raising this now for a number of years and will continue to do so. This is a problem the government cannot ignore and it was just beyond outrageous that the government did not bring forward any solution or ideas of how we solve this funding challenge in social care yesterday.

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you Deputy City Mayor. Councillor Cleaver do you have you a supplementary question please?

**Councillor Cleaver:** Well I would have, but Councillor Palmer has given such a long answer I can't now ask my supplementary question, but there you go. What I would like to just say...

**Lord Mayor:** Can I say it is a question please not a statement, just a question, you can ask a question...

**Councillor Cleaver:** I just wanted to thank the Adult Social Care Department. They have been working very hard.

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you. Question 8, Councillor Singh please.

Councillor Singh: Thank you Lord Mayor. "Some of us are aware that NHS England has instigated a new approach to health and care services with the introduction of sustainability and transformation plans, the so-called STPs. The indications are that STPs will charge local Council Health and Wellbeing Boards to support the shortfall in services from NHS delivery provisions. Will the Deputy Mayor inform Members of this Council of how imminent are these STP footprints and the implications to the Council, with a particular reference to its finance, in view of the massive cuts imposed to our budgets by this Tory government?"

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you Councillor Singh. Deputy City Mayor please.

**Deputy City Mayor:** Thank you my Lord Mayor. I would hope now that many of us, not just some of us, are aware of STPs, which are going to be very important plans going forward. The Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland STP in draft form is now published and that is a very important step recently because we in this Council and local government more broadly have a very important job to do to scrutinise those plans, to bring challenge to them, probe the detail of them. What I suspect we will find in the STPs, there are some areas of those plans which will be consistent with the public policy now for a number of years, particularly around prevention, particularly around the need to invest in primary care — a very pertinent issue here in Leicester. But we will also find things that will cause alarm and concern and which we will want to understand more about the true implications of. There are plans set out in our local STP around reconfiguring the hospital estate in the city, there are plans around the future of maternity services. We have a very important job now through our democratic structures, something the NHS seems to

lack in this area, to scrutinise and challenge those plans. It is my intention that our next full Council meeting in the New Year we will debate the local STP and formalise our position in that way in open, in public, and ensure that NHS colleagues shaping these plans understand our concerns and respond to them. Just in terms of the precise wording the question, STP guidance is largely silent on the role of Health and Wellbeing Boards, just like it is entirely silent on the role of local government and local democracy generally. I think NHS England have many lessons to learn from this process and I think we, all of us across this chamber and across local government, have an important job now to ensure those lessons are articulated to NHS England clearly and robustly.

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you Deputy City Mayor. Councillor Singh do have you a supplementary question please?

**Councillor Singh:** Yes I am very grateful to the Deputy Mayor. Can I also ask that in the debate that he has alluded to could we also have some indication of predicted shortfall, the deficits in budget provisions, which again this Council may need to consider in order to adequately fulfil our duties and obligations which we will, I assure you, we will be charged with because that it the intention of the STPs?

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you Councillor Singh. Deputy City Mayor.

**Deputy City Mayor:** Thank you my Lord Mayor. Briefly, look we have a perfect storm across health and care. We have £400m proposed to come out of our local NHS system, we have adult social care budgets falling, that is a perfect storm and, you know, I repeat in many ways what I have just said in response to Councillor Cleaver's question. You know we can do as much reconfiguration and service redesign and as much jargonated sort of approaches to this as the system wants to throw at us, but there is one very simple fact we cannot avoid across health and care at the moment, there is simply not enough money going into the system.

Lord Mayor: Thank you Deputy City Mayor. Councillor Singh question 9 please.

**Councillor Singh:** Thank you Lord Mayor. "Will the Assistant Mayor for Leisure, Culture and Sports inform this Council of the cost benefit analysis involved in supporting this year's Diwali celebrations?"

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you Councillor Singh. Councillor Clair please.

Councillor Clair: Thank you my Lord Mayor. Although there are no formal assessment has been carried out regarding Diwali celebrations, what the formula which is commonly used in tourism industry for visitor spend, is about £32 per visitor per day, and also there is a formula which on the basis of overnight stay, is £126 for overnight stay. Assuming that 70,000 people who attended both days Diwali switch-on and Diwali day - and over the period of 2 weeks celebration, including city centre, on that basis that all has only day spent, that would be around about £2.2m. It is a conservative figure on the daily basis used, but we don't know how many people would have come nationally and internationally, which is many people come from abroad and nationally whether they stay with their relatives or they stay in hotels, and overall if I can say that this is a good return on the investment which local authority do on Diwali festival. But the point on the social benefit, although Hindu, Sikh and Jain are only 20% of the total population of Leicester city as a whole, it has become such a diverse and multicultural event from over many years that we all have seen the person from different culture and religion, they come and enjoy and share the value of each other's culture, and this

is not alone the social value or economic value, what we have is city as a whole, the media attraction and how many articles in nationally, internationally, hash tag, Facebook, they have actually made Leicester internationally known and there is no doubt Leicester is one of the biggest city who celebrate Diwali outside India. It is something known for that, but however Lord Mayor the aim in charge of festival programme as a whole, it is not only Diwali festival who bring economic benefit as a number of people in Belgrave Road City centre, as we can look back how popular it was the Kasabian event in Victoria Park. How many people has come as Leicester from wide raised internationally to Richard III internment, how many people has come and enjoyed and seen Leicester what we can deliver to the national event, like three rugby world cup matches and we were really put on world map when we won the premier league trophy and especially the victory parade which we were expecting possibly maybe only 100,000 people but quarter of a million people came to Leicester. So this is the vibrant overall of a festival programme, which actually brings a lot of economic benefit, along with the Diwali to the City. So I hope that if funding is still remains as it is, always I cannot undertake, hope this is worth doing.

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you Councillor Singh for that expansive answer ... sorry Councillor Clair. Councillor Singh do have you a supplementary question?

**Councillor Singh:** Thank you my Lord Mayor. I am very grateful to the Assistant Mayor. Can I also say that £2.2m is not just good it is exceptional and therefore I would urge Councillor Clair to actually do some kind of detailed analysis and publish that analysis, because the success of that 2 week period has been absolutely phenomenal and I do hope that he will take that on board.

Lord Mayor: Councillor Clair did you want to respond? Say no.

Councillor Clair: Possibly, I will endeavour to see.

Lord Mayor: Question 10, Councillor Singh please.

**Councillor Singh:** Thank you my Lord Mayor. "Can the City Mayor confirm the change in the business rate retention scheme in the financial period 2020. Will he give a commitment that the areas which will benefit most from continuing support will be business based to boost job creation and maximise employment opportunities for the people of Leicester?"

Lord Mayor: Thank you Councillor Singh. City Mayor please.

City Mayor: Thank you Lord Mayor. I think for all the talk of devolution and localisation, it is important to remember that the scheme of which Councillor Singh is referring is essentially a government scheme, it is not the Council's scheme. Under this scheme we keep 50% of the business rates raised in the City, but of course we don't really influence the way in which it works. It is the government that sets the rules. We do know the government intends to change the scheme by 2020 when authorities will be able to keep 100% of the rates raised, but sadly the details of how that will work and whether we will have any flexibility under it are not yet available. My concern actually is that the review of individual authorities needs will be taking place at the same time and the outcome of that will be uncertain, particularly for the way in which the government has consistently drained deprived authorities, such as ourselves, of resources every time they have changed the local government finance scheme, and they have changed it a lot of times. Always it is those who have the greatest need who have been the greatest losers. So while I would like to be able to give a more positive response to Councillor Singh about the

way in which he would wish to direct these new freedoms, I am afraid the reality is that, while the government's record has been very strong on freedoms and local discretion, the reality has been very different.

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you City Mayor. Councillor Singh do have you a supplementary, thank you? Moving on to question 11 please, Councillor Willmott.

**Councillor Willmott:** Thank you my Lord Mayor. "Please can Councillor Master tell me why he has decided to reprieve the Cossington Street building housing Belgrave Library, for which we are all grateful of course, from closure but not Rushey Mead Library?" Thank you.

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you Councillor Willmott. Councillor Master please.

Councillor Master: Thank you my Lord Mayor. Could I thank Councillor Wilmott for his question and also for the Rushey Mead participants that again contributed very constructively to the consultation process. The principle again is bringing in fewer buildings into an area and having two buildings located close together with a smaller number of users in comparison to obviously Belgrave Neighbourhood Centre and Belgrave library. It is not as simple as comparing apple and pears but it was a lot easier to look at alternatives in terms of service provision. So looking at the scoping exercise and potentially working with some of the groups that are in there, it was felt from officers, and some of the feedback that we had, that some of the proposal would work better being fitted into one building which would be the recreation centre rather than the library and that was the proposal that potentially we may put forward.

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you Councillor Master. Councillor Willmott do you have a supplementary question please?

Councillor Willmott: I do, I mean I am not sure if he has been to Rushey Mead library and the recreation centre but he would see that they are as close as Belgrave Neighbourhood Centre, if not closer than Belgrave Neighbourhood Centre and Belgrave library. So I can see the same reply. I would ask him to really consider not closing Rushey Mead library, but actually investing in it, as we discussed at the meeting with City Mayor, and now consider a new building for the library which would incorporate the community centre, because I think that would be excellent value for money. Would he agree to do that my Lord Mayor?

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you Councillor Willmott. Councillor Master please.

**Councillor Master:** Thank you my Lord Mayor. I think there has been interest shown from a number of groups within that area and in regards to the Rushey Mead library and recreation centre that have some ideas about how they would like to put some proposals forward of what may benefit community groups and local users and I am more than happy to meet with them and Ward Councillors to see what proposals can be worked up.

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you Councillor Master. Question 12, Councillor Willmott please.

**Councillor Willmott:** Thank you my Lord Mayor. "Please can I ask Councillor Palmer to explain why it has taken from the 8<sup>th</sup> August to the 17<sup>th</sup> November to tell me that my 92 year old constituent whose request for a downstairs toilet has not even had an assessment yet? And why it was never explained to me that it would

so far take 14 weeks for exactly nothing to happen"? Since tabling the question I have had a flurry of emails and am grateful for that information. It shows that this process works, I think, if nothing else works. Thank you my Lord Mayor.

Lord Mayor: Deputy City Mayor please.

**Deputy City Mayor:** Thank you my Lord Mayor. Let me endorse Councillor Willmott's praise of this process – it did indeed alert me to this unfortunate issue. But let me seriously reinforce the apology that Councillor Willmott received from the department this week, because of course Councillor Willmott should have received a response much sooner within the usual deadlines. I have asked the department to ensure that systems in that regard are robust and functioning properly so this is not repeated. Now, clearly looking beyond the administrative element of this, there is a waiting list for OT assessments. There always has been and sadly probably always will be a waiting list of some description, and your constituent's case I think as you have now been informed is initially assessed as being non-urgent and now I clearly understand that my language sometimes feel blunt, does seem blunt. I would probably think that if this was a relative or constituent of mine. Clearly cases are judged to be urgent where people are reaching end of life are prioritised through the system. The current waiting list for non-urgent OT referrals is between 15 to 20 weeks, which is about the period your constituent has been waiting. I understand an appointment has now been arranged for the 29th November. You should have been informed of that and I hope the OT assessment can therefore be carried out smoothly and any necessary arrangements made and confirmed. I would just in many ways want to refer back to previous answers that I would want a social care system funded and resourced in such a way that waiting lists are not of that lengths, whether they be for OT assessments or any other assessments. But again, I am sorry that Councillor Willmott did not receive a timely response, which prevented him from communicating this effectively to his constituent.

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you Deputy City Mayor. Councillor Willmott do you have a supplementary question?

Councillor Willmott: Yes my Lord Mayor, thank you. I do indeed thank Councillor Palmer for his apology and that received from the officers of the department. My supplementary really is about the substantive issue that Councillor Palmer has referred to. Whilst we understand the situation we are placed in with the funding of social care, I still think it is unacceptable that we have 3 month to 4 month waiting times for an assessment, so that somebody who is 92 years old does not even know if they are going to get a "no" as an answer to having a toilet downstairs, which might mean they can put in....

Lord Mayor: Councillor Willmott can you put a question please...

Councillor Willmott: Yes I will but I need to explain.

**Lord Mayor:** No we need a question please Councillor Willmott.

**Councillor Willmott:** Sorry, if they don't get an assessment my Lord Mayor they can't even get the answer "no" which might lead them to make some alternative provision. So I would ask Councillor Palmer to review this situation to see what resources he has at his disposal to try and speed up the assessment process to at least get answers to the questions, because it might lead to no toilet being installed of course and I think Councillor Palmer understands what I am getting at. Thank you Lord Mayor.

Lord Mayor: Thank you Councillor Willmott. Deputy City Mayor.

Deputy City Mayor: Thank you my Lord Mayor and thank Councillor Willmott for the supplementary because that is exactly what we are doing. We are looking at the OT pathway, very similar to other area of social care whether it be adults or children have been particular recruitment challenges for occupational therapists, we have had some success recently in recruiting more occupational therapists so I would hope that we are allocating our resources appropriately to start bringing those waiting times down. You know I expressed regret in my initial answer that I would not want a relative or a constituent or anyone else to wait for that amount of time for an initial assessment as you rightly identify. The assessment is the first part of this process and there is of course often uncertainty beyond that. I absolutely understand that. We are allocating and moving our resources across social care in terms of the demand challenges across all different areas, and I think as you have alluded to and probably would not disagree with me that in many ways at the moment is an impossible circle into square, but we will continue to do our best and bring those waiting times down.

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you Deputy City Mayor. Question 13, Councillor Willmott please.

**Councillor Willmott:** Thank you my Lord Mayor. "Please would Councillor Andy Connelly explain what help the Housing Department have been able to provide to my homeless constituent Mrs. S. since I requested help for her on the 28<sup>th</sup> September?" Thank you my Lord Mayor.

**Lord Mayor:** Councillor Connelly please.

Councillor Connelly: Thank you Lord Mayor. Housing Options have been helping, or attempting to help, this constituent since July 2014 and since Councillor Willmott's interventions in September, Housing Options have continued to try and help this constituent, but they have been unsuccessful I am afraid, due to continuing refusal to engage directly with Housing Options. Unfortunately, to complicate matters further, in order to comply with the Data Protection Act we need her written authorisation permitting Housing Options to engage with either Councillor Willmott or her daughter in order to help find her suitable accommodation as quickly as possible.

**Lord Mayor:** Councillor Willmott do you have a supplementary please?

Councillor Willmott: Yes I have my Lord Mayor. I am very disappointed really at the Department's response to this issue and I would ask Councillor Connelly to look at the systems whereby a letter has been handed in, it is not particularly well signed I agree, because I have seen a copy of it, but it does give authorisation to this lady's daughter. I think that I would expect him to review the systems, because one of the answers I got from the officers was that they cannot contact her because she is homeless. We have made her homeless because she won't be allowed to go into the Dawn Centre because she is on the street, they only write to her at her previous address so clearly there is no contact established. I think that there is something really, really badly wrong when myself and Councillor Connelly cannot get the system to help somebody who is homeless. Please will he review the systems my Lord Mayor. Thank you.

Lord Mayor: Councillor Connelly please.

**Councillor Connelly:** Yes, unfortunately this is an extremely complex case but I am quite happy to give Councillor Willmott the assurance that we will look to review the case, because clearly, you know, we don't want to see his constituent continuing to sleep rough and being homeless, although I understand at the moment she is stopping at a family member's property.

**Lord Mayor:** Councillor Willmott. Thank you. After the next question I will be taking a 10 minute comfort break. Councillor Question 14, Councillor Bhatia.

Councillor Rae Bhatia: Thank you Lord Mayor. "The housing estate developers leave their site normally by putting a management company in charge of maintaining it. The City Council does not take the ownership of certain provisions of maintenance at the formal adoption of such estates. There have been lots of complaints due to the degraded maintenance provided by these maintenance companies to which the City Council has no legal authority to challenge or intervene and as a result the residents have suffered. May I ask the City Mayor that the City Council consider introducing fool-proof contractually binding measures in the planning process and when granting the development rights to the builders so that the developers fulfil their maintenance obligations? Thank you"

Lord Mayor: Thank you. City Mayor please.

City Mayor: My Lord Mayor I have very considerable sympathy with the concerns that Councillor Bhatia has expressed on behalf of the residents of such areas, and I am concerned that contracts entered into between house buyers and developers are not always being honoured by the developers or their agents in delivering the services that for instance we can reasonably expect from those who have built their houses. I am afraid though that in terms of planning permission the Council's hands are tied in these matters and the Council is not in a position to require the developer to contract with the Council should the developer choose to take the alternative route of appointing its own management company, and they do take that choice, as is their right. Similarly with planning permissions we can't seem to control and enforce matters which are separate, legally binding contractual issues between the developer, or the person selling on the developer's behalf, and the potential occupier the owner of the property. It really is between the two parties to resolve and indeed there is the risk to the Council of were it to get involved in this way we would find ourselves with possible legal claims against the Council from one or other of the parties involved. It is a very complex issue and one where I am afraid I don't have any particular reassurance to give to Councillor Bhatia. I can say it is possibly one that we may have both wished to talk with local Members of Parliament about to see whether matters can be changed in national legislation to enable purchasers or potential purchasers of properties to have something that is rather more effective in terms of recourse to the developers than is the case. I know the development that Councillor Bhatia is particularly concerned about, but I know that it is not the only one.

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you City Mayor. Councillor Bhatia do you have a supplementary question?

**Councillor Rae Bhatia:** Yes my Lord Mayor. Just I thank you City Mayor for explaining the complexities around that and I am very happy that we can work with him to meet the MPs for that. My question is that can I seek some reassurance from City Mayor that where we have the existing problems in Beaumont Leys, for example, and New Parks and Bradgate Heights that the Council will support the

residents and the Councillors in making sure that the existing developers and the maintenance companies are brought to justice to actually come to the table to discuss things with us?

Lord Mayor: Thank you Councillor Bhati. City Mayor.

**City Mayor:** My Lord Mayor, despite the you know limitations that I have talked about, I have already actually requested officers to seek to apply whatever pressure they can in these cases and I know that Councillors, and indeed the local MP, have been involved in those particular areas of development that Councillor Bhatia refers to and have sought to hold meetings and to try and hold the companies responsible to account. It is something that, as I have indicated, we are intensely aware of and we will use whatever pressure, however limited, we are able.

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you City Mayor. I now suspend the meeting for 10 minutes please. If you could be back at quarter to. Thank you.

# The meeting adjourned at 6.35pm and reconvened at 6.49pm

**Lord Mayor:** OK back to the questions ladies and gentlemen. Question 15 Councillor Kitterick please.

**Councillor Kitterick:** Thank you very much Lord Mayor. "Is Leicester City Council opposed to clause 21 of the Bus Services Bill which prohibits Councils setting up their own bus companies?"

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you Councillor Kitterick. Councillor Clarke please.

Councillor Clarke: Thank you my Lord Mayor and thank you to Councillor Kitterick for highlighting the Bus Services Bill which is currently making its way through parliament. The Buses Bill, as it is known, has several clauses and provisions within it, one of which being clause 21 that Councillor Kitterick refers to. There are elements of the Bill that I, and I think we, should be cautiously supportive of which would potentially give greater levers to local authorities to have at least more involvement in things like fares, timetabling and more knowledge of passenger numbers as well. Obviously these are currently wrapped up in the market economy that is bus services in cities like Leicester. Clause 21 does specifically prohibit local authorities from setting up their own companies. I am pleased to say, and this is not always the case, that we are currently in line with the House of Lords here, who have recently opposed clause 21 and the Executive also does oppose clause 21.

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you Councillor Clarke. Councillor Kitterick a supplementary please?

Councillor Kitterick: Lord Mayor, whilst the City of Nottingham have two football teams that continue to redefine the word "mediocrity", they do actually have a world class municipal bus service and certainly anybody who goes to Nottingham can only be jealous of what it provides. Can I ask Councillor Clarke, does he believe that actually the prohibition on Councils setting up their own municipal services is because actually there is no market in bus companies, but there is in fact quite a tight 2 or 3 companies across the country? They have got all the bus services tied up and actually municipal bus services raise standards, and the reason why the government wishes to prohibit them is not because they would not do a good enough job, because the job they do is too good.

Lord Mayor: Councillor Clarke please.

Councillor Clarke: Yes I will respond to that. Nottingham is often lauded for Nottingham CityBus and the rest of its bus and public transport infrastructure. I do in my role hear criticisms of Nottingham as well. On Nottingham CityBus you do still have to pay exact fare, if you are paying a fare, and you do have to speak to the driver behind a glass screen, so they are not perfect. However, this goes back a decade in terms of this legislation and obviously, as we move forward sometime in the future, were it appropriate, we would not want to close the door as it were to municipal public transport. Currently it would be impossible in the current circumstances for a local authority to set up a municipal bus service such as the ones that do run in places like Nottingham, but also Oxford and Reading.

**Lord Mayor:** Councillor Clarke thank you. Councillor Grant question 16 please.

**Councillor Grant:** Thank you Lord Mayor. "When does the Council believe that there will be sufficient school places for all the children in the city?"

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you Councillor Grant. Councillor Russell please.

Councillor Russell: Thank you my Lord Mayor. There are currently sufficient school places for all children in the city, in that the number of places overall exceeds the number of applicants for places. However, the question no doubt reflects the tensions that arise because the places available are not always in the right parts of the city, at the schools that people want to send their children to. This will always be the case to some extent, but over the past 2 years we have seen a combination of both the significant increase in the birth rate and also a large volume of in-year applicants coming for school places with people moving into the City for employment and housing opportunities. This is because our City is growing and is successful, but it does mean it creates some challenges for us in planning school places, in that we don't know on any one year how many children in each year group may be moving in. So whilst we feel we are now comfortable in terms of the provision at Reception year, where we can plan that very comfortably, for some of the later years we are adding in different school provision. Between 2010 and 2015 we created 726 new primary school Reception places. This is equivalent to around 25 new primary schools. We are currently working with our primary schools to create another 895 new places across all year groups, to make sure that that local choice, that people aren't having to travel across the City and that as far as possible we can keep sibling groups together. With secondary schools it is slightly more complicated. When the Building Schools for the Future programme was brought in there were plans included in each of the initial designs for all of the Building Schools for the Future secondary schools to have additional capacity built in, as well as rebuilding the infrastructure. Sadly although we were successful in retaining our Building Schools for the Future programme when there was a change in Government, unlike many areas around the country they were, I think the terms was "cost engineered", to be able to be approved, which meant that any additional capacity was removed. Even though we knew we had an incoming increase in the birth rate and that number of pupils coming through. This has meant that just this week we have been able to announce that we are investing initially £920,000 in the design work for the expansion of 8 of our secondary schools in the City with a view to spending £45m on increasing those 8 secondary schools, which will be the equivalent of 2 new secondary schools, which alongside potential free school applications in the City will ensure that we have the right number of high quality school places for all ages of children going forward. Thank you my Lord Mayor.

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you Councillor Russell. Councillor Grant do you have a supplementary question?

**Councillor Grant:** Yes, thank you and thank the Assistant Mayor for the full answer. Picking up on the free schools, the Secular Society has made their view clear on who it thinks should be allowed to open schools and who shouldn't. Does the City Council have an opinion of the prospect of faith groups opening new schools?

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you Councillor Grant. Councillor Russell please.

Councillor Russell: Thank you my Lord Mayor and I commented on this story in the week. I strongly believe, and it is the positon that I think the majority of us in the chamber believe, that whilst faith schools have a part to play in our city the change in legislation that has been proposed at this stage and is out for consultation and that has been referred to by the Secular Society, was not about just new faith schools opening, it was about schools being able to choose exclusively on the basis of faith. And that, alongside other segregation in education, I think would be damaging for community cohesion in the city, we want our children to understand to be able to share, to be able to appreciate and to be able to celebrate each other's faiths, cultures and backgrounds, alongside being able to understand the different needs and different communities that people come from. So we have fairly strong feelings opposing the current proposals for both grammar schools and exclusively single faith schools. Thank you my Lord Mayor.

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you Councillor Russell. Councillor Grant question 17 please.

**Councillor Grant:** "Does the City Mayor think that including the parking spaces next to the new cycle lane on the stretch along 44-50 Welford Road was a good idea?"

**Lord Mayor:** City Mayor please.

**City Mayor:** My Lord Mayor, no doubt it seemed a good idea at the time, but the short answer to Councillor Grant is no, I do not think it was a good idea and it was for that reason that on the 19<sup>th</sup> October I took the decision to begin the process of removing those parking spaces. They do indeed cause an obstruction to the traffic there and while I do understand that they were designed in order to provide some access to the shops, I think that the disadvantages of having them there is far too great to justify any of that gain. I understand that the draft Traffic Regulation Order is now currently being consulted on, as it has to be, with the emergency services and Councillors. It is envisaged it will be advertised in the new year and I very much hope that those parking bays will be out in the Spring of 2017, subject of course to the outcome of that consultation.

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you very much City Mayor. Councillor Porter do you have a supplementary question please .... sorry Councillor Grant?

**Councillor Grant:** Thank you. I really welcome the answer from the City Mayor. I thought that the data was designing roads to deliberately frustrate both designers and with the passing of one of the previous senior highways officers who used to like to tell us how proud he was that he did not drive and how frustrated he was. How can the City Mayor ensure that we don't have such kind of moronic aspects of schemes that he is going to be bringing in in the future which lead to such congestion and pollution and actually rethink over the design?

Lord Mayor: Thank you Councillor Grant.

City Mayor: Chair, I have absolutely no doubt that they were included for very good reason and I think serving the shops is the most likely reason we wanted to include them in there. There had been parking there beforehand and I guess it was felt that that would make a significant contribution to the viability of those shops, which as Councillor Grant will know have struggled over the years and have not been well served by the way in which that pavement along there was designed previously. So I have no doubt that it was done for very good reason, but it is a fact that when we implement traffic schemes we do need to keep them under constant review and when they do need some modification, some tweaking, we show ourselves willing to observe what is happening on the ground, to listen to what is being said to us and to make the necessary changes and that is what we are doing.

Lord Mayor: Thank you City Mayor. Question 18, Councillor Grant.

**Councillor Grant:** "As under-estimating the cost of a project makes it easier for an enthusiastic Executive to promote them and also reduces the objections available from Members at scrutiny, it is no surprise few people are shocked by substantial over-runs on Council projects. Should we accept the inevitability and sense of frustration and not be angry that money is then not available for other projects?"

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you Councillor Grant. City Mayor please.

City Mayor: My Lord Mayor in answer to a previous question my colleague Councillor Russell talked about the extent of our capital investment in schools – just taking that one as an example. I think if Members look back at the scale of that investment, at the amount of money that have been spent on it and the ability of the Council to ensure that those projects are delivered on time and on budget, they have to I think note that we do have a very good record indeed of making sure that we use money effectively and that we invest it appropriately and that we deliver on budget. There are occasional overruns, it is undoubtedly the case with large projects. I think Members will be aware of one particular one that was quite high profile, which was the overrun on the Haymarket Bus Station. Members have seen the photos of that, will understand that it was not reasonably possible in advance to predict the number of basements that had been hidden below the surface there. So it is not surprising that that one over-ran. But that is the exception. The generality is that the Council is pretty good at predicting how much something will cost and very good indeed at getting value for money.

Lord Mayor: Thank you City Mayor. Councillor Grant a supplementary?

**Councillor Grant:** Well, it is interesting that the City Mayor uses the example of the Haymarket Bus Station and not being able to predict the basements, because that is exactly the same problem that caused some of the overrun on the Curve, where we found Victorian basements. Jubilee Square was found blatantly to be a complicated city centre site that nobody had foreseen, with things overrunning it and now Victoria Park has got very similar issues. With Victoria Park we have easily been able to find a half a million pounds from Section 106 money. Should we now consider Section 106 money to be a slush fund for any project that is under costed or badly managed without any transparency?

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you Councillor Grant. City Mayor please.

**City Mayor:** My Lord Mayor, it is interesting that Councillor Grant refers to the Curve which was very largely a project undertaken under the control of a Conservative and Liberal Democrat Council. Because he is quite right to point to the fact that more recently examples with basements have led to overruns, half a million pounds he has talked about. The difference is of course is that overruns of half a million pounds are indeed the case occasionally during a Labour administration, under a Liberal Democrat and Tory administration, the overrun on the Curve was £32.4m.

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you City Mayor. Question 19 please, Councillor Porter.

**Councillor Porter:** Thank you Lord Mayor. My question is "What does the Council's Bus Lane and Bus Gate Order 2011 say with regards to conditions and exclusions?"

Lord Mayor: Thank you Councillor Porter. City Mayor please.

**City Mayor:** My Lord Mayor I am informed that the main exemptions are for the emergency service vehicles and hackney carriages and vehicles undertaking statutory duties.

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you City Mayor. Councillor Porter do you have a supplementary question?

**Councillor Porter:** Yes, thank you and thank you to the Mayor for the answer there. The question relates to where there are speed cameras around the city there are also legible signs which say speed cameras, I don't know if you have spotted them round and about. I think it would be helpful if where the bus lane cameras are, there are also signs indicating in words that there are bus lane cameras, so that would be really helpful. But the question is, buses don't run 24/7, so what is the point in fining motorists who are entering a bus lane say at 5 o'clock in the morning?

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you Councillor Porter. City Mayor please.

**City Mayor:** My Lord Mayor I think that may be the supplementary to the next question. I will be happy to add to it though. Of course there is a debate about whether bus lanes should operate 24/7. The overwhelming advice of the task group and the scrutiny review of the operation of bus lanes was that they should operate 24/7. I listened very carefully to that advice, on that particular aspect of it, as well as on other aspects of it. It follows a lot of very careful consideration of the merits, and the arguments against, doing it 24/7 and came down very firmly on that side.

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you City Mayor. Councillor Porter question 20 please.

**Councillor Porter:** Thank you. "How many motorists does the Council estimate will be fined now that there are 24/7 bus lane enforcement cameras on the Lutterworth Road in Aylestone?"

Lord Mayor: Thank you Councillor Porter. City Mayor please.

**City Mayor:** My Lord Mayor, I am advised that to date 2,972 warning notices have been issued. The number issued on day one, that is the 14<sup>th</sup>, and to the 20<sup>th</sup> November have shown a reduction on both sides. I said to this chamber and publicly that we measure the success of bus gates, or bus lane enforcements in this

case, by how few actual fines are issued. I would very much expect that we will see on this bus lane, as we have seen on the bus gates, a dramatic reduction of the numbers of fines that need to be issued as people get to understand that when we say buses only that is precisely what we mean.

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you City Mayor. Councillor Porter do you have a supplementary question?

**Councillor Porter:** Yes thank you. Thank you to the Mayor for the answer there. I am sure that all those drivers who get fined will remember that Labour in Aylestone actually supports that fining of those motorists. So the question to the Council is, I understand, maybe you can clarify this, that Nottingham City Council collects the money from the fines, so what percentage of that money does actually Leicester City Council retain at the end of the day?

Lord Mayor: Thank you Councillor Porter. City Mayor Please.

Lord Mayor, I supposed having used his previous supplementary City Mayor: Councillor Porter had to try and find something that somehow remotely reflected the original question he asked. Actually that one is very remote. I will very happily provide him with the information about the financial arrangements about the collection of fines, which is of course a matter on the public record. I will supply it to him again. I would just say my Lord Mayor that, you know, making sure that buses are able to move effectively through the City is surely a high priority for all of us. They are the major form of public transport within the city, the one that many of our constituents rely on and many beyond the boundaries of the City rely on. I guess that it is also the case that actually the majority of those who are using that bus lane inappropriately and without proper authority are actually coming from outside of the City, rather than from within the Aylestone area. I would very much hope that those within the Aylestone area and those coming from outside the Aylestone area coming through that area will understand that it a bus lane designed to enable buses to get in to the city effectively and according to timetable, and it is in everybody's interest and public duty to make sure they are properly enforced and that people do not get in the way of an effective bus service.

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you City Mayor. Question 21, Councillor Porter.

**Councillor Porter:** "The Council is currently running a public consultation on waste. Can the Council list what factual information is in the consultation report?"

Lord Mayor: Thank you Councillor Porter. Councillor Clarke please.

**Councillor Clarke:** Thank you my Lord Mayor. Thank you to Councillor Porter for the question. The consultation on considering charging for bulky and DIY waste is currently ongoing and is due to close on the 27<sup>th</sup> November this year. Therefore no consultation report has yet been produced. However, I believe Councillor Porter is referring to the report that went to the Scrutiny Commission on the 5<sup>th</sup> October. Any questions directly relating to the facts within this report, or any queries Councillor Porter has regarding this consultation, can be put to those officers in consultations.

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you Councillor Clarke. Councillor Porter a supplementary question at all?

Councillor Porter: Yes. Unhappily I know you have mentioned about questions not wondering off, but it also does say in the Constitution that you should get an

answer to a question so...

**Lord Mayor:** Can I just remind Councillor Porter that the Constitution actually says the supplementary question must be in relation to the answer just given.

**Councillor Porter:** Yes. Yes, and if you look at the next paragraph which I am sure you have seen below that, it does mention that you should get an answer to the question. The question is, I mean at the time I submitted this question I looked at the Council's website, saw the consultation document, with the report, which listed a whole series of different facts but there was nothing whatsoever on there about the Council's failure to meet its promised 48-50% recycling and composting targets. So why is the consultation report which is on the Council's website lacking important information so residents, if they want to embark in this consultation, are not fully informed?

Lord Mayor: Thank you Councillor Porter. Councillor Clarke.

**Councillor Clarke:** Many thanks for that and I have personally have taken that on board and I suggest that Councillor Porter responds to the consultation in the same words.

Lord Mayor: Thank you Councillor Clarke. Councillor Porter question 22 please.

Councillor Porter: "Are there any plans to reintroduce the Boundary Road link?"

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you Councillor Porter. City Mayor please.

City Mayor: My Lord Mayor, the Boundary Road link has been part of the City's future thinking about its road network for many years and remains so today. The fact is, to the south of the City centre there are really only three river crossings and each is problematic. Furthest to the south of course is Soar Valley Way and we all know that we have the extension to Fosse Park on that and we all know that it is both quite a long way out and often very heavily congested. Further in, to the other extreme, we have Upperton Road and I think those of us that use that occasionally will know that it is very heavily stretched in terms of actually providing an effective link across from Welford Road across to Narborough Road and particularly, coming back to the earlier conversation about buses, one that buses find very difficult indeed and hence the delays that it leads to. Of course, in the middle we have Middleton Street, which residents of Aylestone tell me, and indeed I know Councillor Clarke tells me, is very congested indeed and leads to very significant congestion within Aylestone Village. And of course, although I think it managed to escape after the last heavy rain, is frequently closed by rain by flooding. Taking those three down to only two crossings. It would therefore I think be very irresponsible to rule out the prospect of having another river crossing at some time in the future and although there are no imminent plans for doing that I certainly would not want to take the Boundary Road line, the Eaton Road to Boundary Road line, out of the options for the future. Whether it will be built during my tenure in this office I don't know, but I think were we to take it out during my tenure others would come to curse me in future, particularly people who represent the Aylestone area.

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you City Mayor. Do you have a supplementary question Councillor Porter?

**Councillor Porter:** Yes. Just to be helpful to the City Mayor, maybe nobody has told him, the actual line for that road was revoked, probably about 10 or so years

ago, so maybe he is a bit behind the times on that. So if you want to put it back in you would need to stick it in and reverse that decision to revoke the line of the road, but as the Mayor points out there is awful congestion on Aylestone Road and it has got much worse since the bus lanes went in and when you know you try, as he pointed out, you try to get down Middleton Street it is impossible when there is the the level of congestion and also when the roads are flooded. When the proposal was originally put forward for the road line from Newton Road to Boundary Road the traffic officers at the time, I think some of them have probably left, redirected all the traffic along that stretch of Aylestone Road to the motorway ....

**Lord Mayor:** Can you get to the question Councillor Porter.

**Councillor Porter:** So the question is, in order to try and relieve some of the congestion in the short term before this road link goes in, could the Council put up some signs to direct traffic to the motorway along Raw Dykes Road and then Upperton Road, which would be incredibly useful especially when Middleton Street is closed off due to flooding. Members are looking confused – you can go down Raw Dykes Road and then that joins into Upperton Road and then you can turn left into Narborough Road and as we all know Narborough Road has got four lanes so it is a much more direct route to the motorway.

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you councillor Porter the question has been made. City Mayor.

City Mayor: My Lord Mayor, I don't know when Councillor Porter last tried driving down Upperton Road at peak period, but I can tell him it is a major source of congestion in the city and the notion that, even if you did get to the other end of it on to Narborough Road, you are suddenly faced with an urban motorway is actually not a reflection of the real geography of that area of the City, or indeed what you actually get into is a shopping area, and a very heavily congested one at that. I don't think that the residents of that part, particularly of the West End of the City, would thank me for redirecting things from Soar Valley Way, which is where most of them will be directed at the moment, into a shopping area. I have to say that you know perhaps yet again Councillor Porter's understanding of the physical geography of the City and the way in which the City works is somewhat defective and decanting problems from his area to the neighbouring wards is not something that I am prepared to do, that I or anybody else would be thanked for.

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you City Mayor. Councillor Porter question 23 please.

**Councillor Porter:** Right OK. "When will the consultation on the new local plan start?" Hopefully we will get an answer to this one.

Lord Mayor: City Mayor please.

**City Mayor:** My Lord Mayor, I think it is already in the public domain. The consultation on the Local Plan will start next year following approval at Council, which is anticipated for around February or March. A further stage of consultation on the submission draft plan will then follow later in the year and it will probably inevitably lead to an Inquiry chaired by a government inspector, anticipated to finalise the plan somewhere in 2018.

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you City Mayor. Councillor Porter supplementary question please?

**Councillor Porter:** Yes. I am delighted we have finally got a firm date from him that it is going to be early next year. Hopefully we can stick to that. Because at the planning meeting last night a number of committee members were raising issues about the failings in the current Local Plan so it is clearly overdue a public consultation on that. Regarding the site allocation are there any proposals that the City Mayor is aware of for a travellers site in Aylestone Ward?

Lord Mayor: City Mayor.

**City Mayor:** Lord Mayor, it was you I think earlier who asked Members to put in supplementaries that were somehow relevant to the previous question. I am not sure that one is. However, I will nonetheless give him an answer. And it is that if Councillor Porter has suggestions for such sites in Aylestone I would be very pleased to listen to them.

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you City Mayor. Question 24, Councillor Porter please.

**Councillor Porter:** Absolutely hilarious. "Can the Council list the references to zero hour contracts in the Council's procurement policies?"

Lord Mayor: Thank you Councillor Porter. Councillor Waddington please.

**Councillor Waddington:** Thank you my Lord Mayor. Thank you Councillor Porter for the question. The answer is as follows. There are no references to zero hour contracts in the Council's procurement policies.

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you Councillor Waddington. Councillor Porter supplementary please?

**Councillor Porter:** Yes. Thank you and thank Councillor Waddington for that reply. In terms of zero hour contracts, does the Council, or would they consider, if say for example a business approached the Council to supply a service and they were aware that that business was operating zero hour contracts, and I understand the Labour Party in 2010 campaigned against zero hour contracts, what would the Council's view be in terms of taking on a supplier or a provider of a service who was blatantly operating zero hour contracts? Would they employ them, take their business on, or refuse to do it.

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you Councillor Porter. Councillor Waddington please.

Councillor Waddington: Yes, there are 2 parts to my answer to this. Should any contractors have previously received convictions for breaches of social and labour laws, and including abuse of zero hour contracts, which are against the Small Business Enterprise and Employment Act 2015, or Exclusivity Terms and Zero Hour Contracts Redress Regulations 2015, if they have breached that within the last 3 years they would have to be declared and so they would be considered as inappropriate. However, as Councillor Porter knows, because he is a member of the Economic Development, Transport and Tourism Scrutiny Commission, that Commission has set up a task group, which is looking in depth at a policy which we hope the Council will be able to adopt next year around social value and procurement. And we are looking in detail at the areas that such a policy should include. Councillor Porter has had the opportunity, bearing in mind his interest in zero hour contracts, to join that task group, which has met now on a number of occasions, and has had some very fruitful meetings, but although Councillor Porter has had the opportunity to join that task group he has not in fact done so. So if

Councillor Porter wished to make a contribution in respect of zero hour contracts, or indeed any other areas of employment law which we as a Council should be considering in our social value approach to our procurement policies, he has had the opportunity fully to take part, but he has chosen not to do so.

**Lord Mayor:** Thank you Councillor Waddington and thanks Members for the questions.

## **MATTERS RESERVED TO COUNCIL**

# Procurement of the Council's External Audit Contract by Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA)

Moved by Councillor Rita Patel, seconded by Councillor Westley and carried:-

24. That Council approves the procurement of the external audit contract by Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) following a sector led procurement option.

# **Council Tax Reduction Scheme**

Moved by the City Mayor seconded by Councillor Waddington and carried:-

- 25. That Council:
  - notes the content and approves the recommendation to Council set out in Section 5 of the City Mayor's decision notice published on 22 November 2016 and attached at Appendix C to the script and available at the meeting and;
  - 2. is minded to approve the appropriate level of funding for discretionary relief when it considers the budget.

## Leicester Youth Justice Plan 2016-2017

Moved by Councillor Russell, seconded by Councillor Moore and carried:-

26. That Council note and agree the Leicester City Youth Justice Plan for 2016/17.

# REPORTS OF SCRUTINY COMMITTEES

#### **Scrutiny Annual Report 2015/16**

Moved by Councillor Singh, seconded by Councillor Westley and carried:-

27. That the Scrutiny Annual Report 2015/16 be withdrawn.

#### REPORT OF THE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE

Annual report of the Audit and Risk Committee to Council covering the Municipal Year 2015-16

Moved by Councillor Patel, seconded by Councillor Westley and carried:-

28. That Council receive and note the report.

# **EXECUTIVE AND COMMITTEES**

No items identified.

# **NOTICES OF MOTION**

None received.

# **ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS**

The Lord Mayor noted that no urgent business has been identified.

As this was the last scheduled meeting before Christmas the Lord Mayor wished everyone present a Merry Christmas and declare the meeting closed at 7.50pm.